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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS
CADENCE EDUCATION, LLC,
Plaintiff,
V. Caséo. 17-2092-JWB

J. BRANDON VORE, SARAH VORE,
and FHD, INC.,

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

This matter comes before the court on thiéowing motions and briefs: Defendants’
Motion for Summary Judgment (Docs. 184p5, 177, 183); Plaintiff's Motion for Summary
Judgment as to Liability on Count 1 (Dod&6, 157, 168, 182); Plaintif’Motion for Summary
Judgment on Counterclaims (Docs. 159, 169, 186); Defendants’ Motion for Order Regarding
Privilege (Docs. 175, 185, 188); Plaintiff's Moti to Strike (Docs. 176, 184, 189); Plaintiff’s
Motion to Exclude Expert Testimony (Dock94, 207, 210); Defendants’ Motion to Exclude
Expert Testimony (Docs. 196, 208, 211); and DefatsléSecond Motion for Sanctions (Docs.
214, 216, 218.)

|. Background

Brandon and Sarah Vore, through variousibess entities, operated several early
childhood educational facilities, including omalled “Small Beginnings” in Overland Park,
Kansas. Small Beginnings leasthe building where it operatéthe “Master Lease”), at 15801

Metcalf Avenue in Overland Park, Kansas, frBnandon’s parents, James and Patricia Vore.

1 James and Patricia Vore were initially named as Defentanthe claims against them were resolved. (Doc. 42.)
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Plaintiff Cadence Education (“Cadence”)engtes over 150 earlghildhood educational
facilities. In February of 201&adence entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (“APA”) with
FHD Holdings, Inc. (“FHD”), Sarah Vore’s hiihg company that owned Small Beginnings, as
well as with several other education businesges ‘®ellers”) controkd by Brandon and Sarah
Vore, pursuant to which Cadenparchased the assets of these businesses. Small Beginnings’
lease for 15801 Metcalf Avenue was transferred e@eae as part of the deal. The lease required
monthly rental payments of $36,525.00.

As part of the overall ansaction, Cadence and FHD also entered into a sublease (“the
Sublease”) for part of the Small Beginnings’ builgl The agreement called for FHD to sublease
an 11,500 square-foot “Subleased Premises’aftwo-year period, #Hilough FHD was not to
occupy the Subleased Premide&HD agreed to pay monthly rent of $18,252.50 to James and
Patricia Vore on behalf of Cadence for the suddgaeriod (hereinafter “Sublease Period”). FHD’s
monthly rental payment was to be reduced oropgationate basis to the extent Cadence expanded
into and occupied portions of the Subleased Premises. Jamedritid Pare, as master lessors
of the building, consendeto the Sublease.

FHD did not make any monthly rental payrtsean Cadence’s behalf during the Sublease
Period. Cadence paid the full monthly rent$86,252 for that period to James and Patricia Vore.

Cadence filed this action claiming (amomgher things) breach of contract, unjust
enrichment, fraud, and civil conspiracy agaibsfendants Brandon Vore, 13a Vore, and FHD.
Defendants deny the claims, ahdther assert counterclainslemming from Cadence having

taken possession of certain computer equipmBafendants contend Cadence entered a locked

2 The apparent purpose of this unusual arrangement is explaiftradSection 11.2.
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server room and took the equipmeas well as proprietary dasad software, without authority.

They assert claims faonversion and trespass.

Il. Uncontroverted facts

1. The Sublease.

Cadence and FHD entered into the Subleageebruary 26, 2016. @. 45-4.) All terms
of the Sublease are in writingn introductory clauses, the Sehke acknowledged: the existence
of the Master Lease dated September 1, 201#clem James Vore argmall Beginnings; that
Small Beginnings’ interest in the Master Leagas assigned to Cadence; and that Sublessor
(Cadence) and Sublessee (FHD) desired to subiéepsedion of the leased premises “which may
diminish over time” to FHD, with “such initigbortion further described on Exhibit B attached
hereto and made a part heréthfe ‘Subleased Premises’).” Despite this recital, no Exhibit B
showing or describing the Subleased Premisas attached to the Sublease.

The Sublease was subject to all terms amdlitions of the Master Lease. It provided that
Sublessee (FHD) “shall assume the obligatiopayp Rent (as describdatlow) and Sublessee’s
proportionate share of real esttdges (as described below).” (Doc. 45-4 at 1.) Section Four of
the Sublease provided that FHDsnma pay rent to James Vore, loehalf of Sublessor Cadence,
for the Subleased Premises. This rent was daehnance on the first day of each month of the
Sublease term, “without deduction, offset, prioticey or demand,” according to the following
schedule: “March 1, 2016 — February _2018  $18,252.50 per month”. (Doc. 45-4 at 2.)
Section Five of the Sublease provided thaibi®ssee [FHD] shall not occupy the Subleased

Premises.” Id. at 3.)



The Sublease provided that notwithstandirgyfiregoing, Cadence, upon notice to FHD,
“may occupy portions of the Subleased Premiisathout terminating the Sublease, “in which
case the Rent shall be reduced on a proportionate’bagiis provision stated the “initial size of
the Subleased Premises is apimately 11,500 square feet,hé that “[a]s Sublessor expands
into the Subleased Premises, the portion oecufly Sublessor shall be removed from the
Subleased Premises and the Rent shall be rediceddingly.” The reduction in rent “shall occur
... on the first day of each month based on Subt&ssocupancy of the Subleased Premises for
the just completed month.”ld;)) Once the Sublessor (Cadenoegupied at least 10,000 square
feet of the Subleased Premises, the Sublease would “be automatically terminateat.2.§

Any rent not paid within ten ¢ga after the due date “shalldreinterest from the due date
until paid at eight percent (8%) per annum, anbtl&ssee shall pay Sublessor a ‘late charge’ of
five cents ($.05) for each dollar duefd.(at 3.)

The Sublease stated that it commenacaa February  , 2016,” and terminated on the
earliest of three possible dates: 1) “February, 2018,” 2) upon 60 days’ notice of termination
from Cadence, or 3) the date the agreementinates by its terms or by operation of law. (Doc.
45-4 at 2.) The duration of the Subleases thus no more than two years.

The agreement provided that if any actionrevéled in relation to the Sublease, “the
unsuccessful party ... shall pay the successful party ... aasonable sum for the successful
party’s attorney fees.”ld. at 5.) The Sublease “shall be gowed by, construed, and enforced in
accordance with the laws of Kansasld.

2. Circumstances surrounding the Sublease.

In 2015, Cadence and Brandon Vore begegotiating an APA under which Cadence

would buy the assets of several existing chile daisinesses, including Small Beginnings. FHD



Holdings, Inc., which was owned entirely by Sakéore, owned the stock of Small Beginnings,
Inc. Brandon negotiated on behaffall of the Sellers (i.ethe childhood edwation businesses
whose assets were being sold), which wererities owned or cortdlled by Brandon and/or
Sarah Vore.

Small Beginnings operated in the largesicgpof the schools acquired in the APA, but it
had the lowest “occupancy rate” of those schoolderms of the nundr of enrolled students
compared to the number of students the building could accommodate. Its enrollment was only
about half of the building capacity. (Doc. 177 at 10.)

Doug MacKay and John Wilcox (Cadence’s algstounsel) negotiated the terms of the
Sublease on behalf of Cadence. In negotiatiomday of 2015, MacKay sent Brandon an email
with a Letter of Intent concerning the APAacKay expressed concern over an empty space in
one of the other facilities and hatat could affect the purchaseqai He said that “similarly”
with respect to Small Beginnings, “lI want to gréme program into the entire facility but | am
asking for 24 months to make that happen. bkaggesting that each time we take over space our
rent goes up (proportionately) — the quicker we take over more space the quicker we get to paying
full rent. However at the end 888 months we start paying fullmeregardless of how much space
we are using.” (Doc. 177-2 at 3.)

Had the Sublease not been entered, Cadeockl\wave reduced the overall purchase price
it was willing to pay under the APA to cotege the transaction(Doc. 117 at 11.)

Prior to execution of the APA and Subleasn February 13, 2016, Jim Vore emailed a
proposed written agreement to Bdan and Sarah Vore. Patty Vavas copied on the email. The
proposal called for Brandon and Sarah to make a payment of $1.5 million to Jim and Patty upon

closing of the APA with Cadence. The paymenats ostensibly to pay off the balance of a 2012



promissory note owed by FHD to Jim and Patiy return, Jim and Patty would consent to
assignment of the FHD lease to Cadence anddvdully compensate” FHD for its share of the
rent and tax payments that FHD would mak€#&ulence under the Subleag®oc. 177-19.) In
the email, Jim Vore stated:

As you will observe in the Agreementgetimechanics of paying a portion of the

Lease, taxes, and expenses are not exastthey may end up being once we see

in action what works best. We can disctlss further if needed, but at this point,

suffice it to submit that Cadence must view this as Mom & Dad being fully covered

under the terms of the Lease. With yaddendum, surely you can agree with

Cadence to pay us directly, and the purposes of our agreement are fully achieved

when you subsequently don’t pay the 50%ase payments to us. However, |

believe the best course of action is for yosubmit to us copies of expenses paid

by you to Cadence so that we can tphag you, as Cadence should not be aware

that we are not entitled to pagmt per the terms of the Lease.
(Id. at 5-6.)

Brandon did not sign the proposed agreem@mt.February 14, 2016, he emailed Patty
Vore stating in part that “we’reot signing anything dad puts in front of us again.” Brandon said
he would be back in touch “about the short tégase adjustment once dad undoes the damage he
caused by emailing John” [Wilcox], Cadence’s esantative. Brandon praled a document that
only required Patty’s signature and which saiceipt of $1.5 million from FHD upon the Cadence
closing would fully pay off “the purchase agreement.lld. at 15.) Patty Vore signed the
document. Id.)

Cadence had third parties inspect the SBedfinnings building por to February 26, 2016,

but the purpose of thaspection was not to measure the building.

3 The “purchase agreement” may haeei a reference to an agreement undiéch FHD acquired the stock of Small
Beginnings. $ee Doc. 147 at 7.)



On February 29, 2016, Jim Vore emailed Brandon the master lessor's consent to the
Sublease between Cadence and FHD. Hepmtsdded account details for Brandon to wire $1.5
million to Jim and Patty Vore’s account.

3. Subleased Premises.

The parties have cited diagraofghe Small Beginnings builily. (Doc. 155-4; Doc. 177-
9.) The diagrams are useful for understandirggdbntentions, but aseuiously indicated no
diagram was attached to the Sublease, nor did the Sublease describe the Subleased Premises
beyond stating that it was approximately 11,5Q0ase feet. Cadencemtends the Sublease’s
reference to the square footagfethe Subleased Premises “wasreference to the non-tuition
generating classrooms capable of being licerfeedenrolled students.” (Doc. 177 at 5.)
Defendants contend the Subleased Premises wdbdbk half” of the building located behind a
set of fire doors, which was an approximately400 square-foot area known as “Phase 2" of the
construction. (Doc. 168 at 9.)

The parties did not discuss detailed squargdge calculations with each other before
executing the Sublease. Brandon Vore did not kin@total square footage of the building at the
time of the Sublease. The total squaredgetwas actually abo@0,700, although a Cadence
questionnaire completed before closing tisiteat 25,000 square feet. (Doc. 177-15 at*14.)

Defendants allege that Cadensublet particular rooms itme building to FHD. The
materials cited in suppodf those allegations are entirely conclusoryee(e.g., Doc. 155-1)
(Brandon Vore declaring that “Cadence sublet rd@m.. to FHD.”) Cadence declares in equally

conclusory terms that Cadence “did not subleasdaicerooms to FHD. To the extent the parties

4 Cadence alleges that “the Vores and FHD representedienGal’ that the total squdi@tage was 25,000 feet, but
the materials cited by Cadence do not show that thisseptation came from the Vores or FHD. (Doc. 177 at 12-
13.) In fact, Cadence has repeatealgerted facts in the summary judgmemefs that are not supported by the
materials cited in support.



agree that particular rooms were includedha Subleased Premises, the court includes those
rooms in the statement of uncontroverted factsvbeldtherwise, the court disregards conclusory
assertions that daoot show a propdactual basis for a witness’s dartion that particular rooms
were, or were not, part of the Subleased Premises.

The parties agree that the Subleased Preinmskesled at least the Minnesota Room (Room
11), the Dakota Room (Room 12), the North AiteeRoom (Room 14), the South America Room
(Room 15), the Antarctica Room (Room 16), Yallancourt Room (Room 17), and the Music
Room (Room 18). All of these rooms were l@chin the back portion of the buildingSeé Doc.
155-4.)

Defendants assert in conclusory fashion @edence “used” or “utilized” the entire space
in the Small Beginnings building.Sde e.g., Doc. 155-7 at 1) (“Throughout my employment at
Cadence, all of the space in the building ... was utilized for the business purposes of Cadence.”)
In keeping with summary judgmentstdards, the court disregardy anich statements that fail to
describe the alleged use, fail to show the wiisegersonal knowledge, or fail to show when the
alleged usage occurred.

Defendants cite evidence that Cadence nelgrtoemployees not to use any of the space
in the Small Beginnings building. (Doc. 155-6 at ZHey also ite testimony that Cadence used
some of the rooms in the following manner: d€ace “used the CIP [supgptloset] room for art
storage”; it “used the second flooffice for storage”; it “continug to use Room 10 [Asia] for
renovations and then the 2-yead classroom”; it “used Room 14 [North America] for grade
school part time”; it “used RooiB [Branford] for grade schod@lll time”; it “moved pre-K from
Room 10 [Asia to Room 15 [South America]” sdime “in the summer of 20167; in “late summer

and Fall 2016” it “moved the preschool only class fileaom 7 [Africa] toRoom 16 [Antarctica]”;



and it “used the gymnasium [Room 19] and musan [Room 18]” fromFebruary 29, 2016 until
late June 2017. (Doc. 155-6 at 1-2.)

Just prior to execution of the SubleaselDFwas using all of the rooms in the Small
Beginnings building in some form ¢ashion. None of the rooms wesmpty. (Doc. 177-5 at 9.)
After execution of the Sublease, Cadenceinoed to use Rooms 11, 12, 14, 15, 16, 17, and 18,
in some manner, including by leaving itemsstorage that were placed there by FHD and that
were acquired in the APA. Cadence concedasitiused the Dakota RodiRoom 12] for storage
throughout the Sublease; it used the MinnesotaniRilRoom 11] for storage during the Sublease;
it occupied the Branford Room [Room 13] aseanolled grade school class (as had FHD) for the
period of the Sublease; it uséte North America Room [Rooii¥] for tutoring (as had FHD)
until May 2017, after which it used the room as enrolled grade school and then a pre-k
classroom; it used the South America Room [Rd&irfor storage (as it had been used by FHD)
until July 2016, when it was used as an enrolled pre-K classroom instead of the Asia Room [Room
10]; it used the Vaillancourt Room [Room 18§ a staff lounge (as FHD had) throughout the
Sublease; it used the GymnasijRoom 19] as a gym (as FHD had) throughout the Sublease.
(Doc. 177 at 5-8.)

About four months into the Sublease, Caeraised FHD’s failure to pay its portion of
the rent. Doug MacKay emailed Brandon amd Vore on June 30, 2016, asserting that although
the Sublease only made Cadenapaomsible for fifty percent of éhrent, “we have all missed that
provision” and Cadence had been paying the rieiiit. MacKay calculated that Cadence had
overpaid its share by $56,676.73, and asked BramadonJim how they wanted to handle it,
suggesting either reimbursemamnta credit against future rent{Doc. 177-20 at 7.) Brandon

responded with an email stating: “I'm sorypu weren't alerted to the overpayments by the



recipient [i.e. Jim]. This is my first notifiian as well. | don’t beéive now is the time to
renegotiate the contracts. It's my opinion thati should be reimbursed the excess payments by
Jim.” (1d.) Jim Vore responded by asking Cadenceautioue paying the furent “and collect

the other half from Brandon that is his resgbility, including any araunt to date ($56,676.72)
that you have overpaid.id.)

On July 11, 2016, Jim Vore emailed Doug MagKstating he had not received any rent
for July and asking MacKay to confirm that Cadenvould continue to makell rent payments.
(Doc. 177-20 at 3.) MacKay emailed Brandon, agkiow he should respond to Jim, noting that
“[flollowing your instructions we did not pay any rent for Julyltl.(at 2.) Brandon responded to
Doug MacKay that “[a]s your sub lessee, | knovelalready paid him [Jiflbut now my challenge
is to get him to remember. * * * He cashed hayge check so he’ll havi® establish why you
would owe my half additionally.” Brandon said Weas optimistic the family could resolve it and
recommended that Cadence apply its fpagments” against future rentld{) The dispute was
not resolved, however, and Cadence subsequentythmafull monthly rent for the remainder of
the Sublease Period.

4. Counterclaim facts.

The counterclaims concern property allegegimoved by Cadence from a “server room”
on the second floor of a buildireg 6820 West 121st Street, Ohagrd Park, where the Canterbury
Preparatory School operated.

On February 26, 2016, Cadenceuiced the business assetdlué Sellers pursuant to the
APA. The Sellers identified in the APA wer€adence Education, IncCanterbury Preparatory

School, Inc., Canterbury Academy at Shawneaes€ings, LLC, Canterbury Academy at Prairie
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Ridge, LLC, Small Beginnings, Inc., and Canterbicademy at Briarcliff, LLC. Pursuant to the
APA, Cadence acquired, amondpet assets of the Sellers:

all tangible and intangible assets usedgenerated by orsaociated with the
Business, including, all . . . equipment,..computers, . . . classroom equipment
and supplies, contract rights . . . licenéesthe extent assighke), . . . records,
computer software (to the extent assigealaind software licenses (to the extent
assignable), proprietary information, tetlectual propest, trade secrets,
trademarks, trademark applications amndde names, . . . logos, copyrights,
formulas, recipes, goodwill associated with such intellectual property and the
Business, drawings and design situated and/or utilized by the Business or the
Schools operated by Seliefthe “Assets”).

(Doc. 159-1 at 2-3)

The APA references two other entitles name: Canterbury &fing, LLC (“Staffing”)
and Canterbury Intellectual Property, LLC (“CIP"The APA states that these two entities “are
each owned by the same principals that owrS#léers” [i.e., Brandon and Sarah Vore], and that
“the assets related to the business of each ated=d from the ‘Assets™ being purchased. (Doc.
159-1 at 2.) The APA describ#te assets being purchasedatt®n 1.01, and listed assets being
excluded from the sale Bection 1.02, including:

(g) all assets owned by Staffing and dHeJuding, without limitation, the "Infant

Manager" software and the "Canterbufge-School Assessment Test" software,

and related training materiasd curriculum (except for existing software versions

presently possessed by the Schools) ipext to Sellers by Staffing and CIP,
respectively....

5 Defendants fail to address the substance of this allegaiistead, they object toehversion of the APA Cadence
attached to the motion, pointing out that it is not authenticated by an affidavit, it is unsigned and undated, and it
incorrectly states that the closing istédke place on January 15, 2016. (Db8l at 2.) They then argue that any
“arguments about the APA or its purported legal effect should be disregarded as unsupported.” (Doc.)I8Aeat 23
court finds it uncontroverted that the APA executed by the parties thereto contained the abdowesecisions.
Defendants have not disputed that assertion, nor hayecited any evidence to suggest it is not true. Although
Cadence should have attached the executed version of the APA to its motion, an expgubéthecAPA (bearing

the apparent signature of “Brandon Vore, President” on beh&ffanterbury Preparatorinc.”) was attached to the
First Amended Complaint. (Doc. 45-2 at 33.) That copy contains the san@@rsxited above. Defendants offer
nothing to suggest that a genuine dispute exists concerning execution of the APA or thaiabexveamtents. While
Defendants may be correct about authentication of the attaldicument, they still have an obligation to address the
substance of the allegation that the APA contained the quoted prov@ioBschestrate Hr, Inc. v. Trombetta, 2016

WL 3179967, *9 (N.D. Tex. June 8, 2016) (“Litigation is mojame; rather, it is a searfch the truth and an effort

to obtain justice.”) (citation omitted).
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(Id. at 3.)

Section 1.02(g) of the APA was amended pticlosing. The First Amendment to the
APA clarified that although “all assets owned $taffing and CIP” were excluded from the
acquisition, “Sellers will cause tloeirrent software version of the ‘Infant Manager’ and the current
servers used to operate such software to bgreessito [Cadence]; provided that, Sellers will not
be required to provide any support or upgrades wiheet to such software.” (Doc. 159-2 at 2.)
The First Amendment was signed by Brandon Vore on behalf of the Sellers and separately in his
capacity as “the representative.”

Section 1.02(h) of the APA excludes “any askscribed as excluden Schedule 1.02 of
the Disclosure Schedule.” No assetye listed on that schedule.

Cogent Investments, Inc. (“Cogent”) owtte building where Canterbury Prep operated
and where the server room is loaét Cogent is a separate legality from the Vores. (Doc. 159-
3 at 8-9.) Brandon is the President of Cogeiadence executed a lease with Cogent effective

February 26, 2016, pursuanttich Cadence leased spaoethe building. Cogent did not have

6 The parties’ statements and evidentiary citatimasicerning the Canterbury Prep building lease typify
(unfortunately) their summary judgment methods. The briefs indicate there was a leaiseihor the property, but
neither side has referred to its terms or provided a copy to the court.

Cadence alleges it executed a lease “for the CanteRyepyBuilding,” and cites an affidavit of a Cadence
Vice President who simply says that Cadence “executedse I... for the building.” (Dod59-4 at 3.) The affidavit
does not discuss whether the lease covered the entire building or some portion thereof. CGardeites taistimony
of Brandon Vore, but the portion cited shows nothing about the scope of the lease, and an uncited portion shows Vore
indicated the server room was not leasedinyone. (Doc. 159-5 at 6.) demce then states in a footnote that
“[a]lthough the evidence owehelmingly shows Cadence leased both the first and second floor of the Canterbury
Prep Building, the Court need not address that issue to decide this motion for summapgnjud@oc. 159 at 5,
n.2.)

Defendants, meanwhile, allege that Cadence “did no¢ diasnse, or have the right of entry to any portion
of the second floor of the Canterbury Prep Building.” (Doc. 181 at 18.) The evidentiary mateiby defendants
do not support this allegation. Defendants first cite an interrogatory response that simply repeats the above statement
without disclosing the source or basis for the assertilih) (€iting supplemental response to Interrogatory No. 7 in
Doc. 181-4.) Defendants also cite a March 8, 201ilerhain in which Cadence President Dave Goldberg asked
Ed Shoro about the server room. Goldberg said he understood there was a locked room in theshigtiiogritains
servers that belong to Brandon, from which he has run Infant Manager, websites, etc.” Gesllbehis
understanding was “that we do not have access to thaf esahthat we have not removed any servers or data from
that room.” Goldberg asked Shoro and Sharon Moran if they could confirm this and provide moradiiedig
what was in the room and, “if we dwt have access, who does have access, god. 181-5 at 1-2.) In response,
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a lease with any other person or entity for @aterbury Prep building, nor did anyone have a
sublease, after February 26, 2016.

CanterburyElementarySchool was operated by the Vores on the second floor of the
Canterbury Prep building. Cadence did not wamiuichase that operation in the APA. Brandon
wanted out of the child education businessrdfte APA. Brandon and Doug MacKay agreed that
Brandon would continue to operate the Elemengsfool for the remainder of the school year
and that Cadence would staff that operator Brandon. (Doc. 159-6 at 129-30.)

Defendants’ conversion claifCounterclaim 1) is limitedo the following property:
accounting records, business records, accountifiggase, Infant Manager software, computer
equipment, hardware, and servers. (Doc. 18)aAccording to Brandon, his conversion claim

focuses on the following computer equipment, hardware, and servers:

Host Name of Physical Server Mdaé Physical Server IP Address

CS-DBO1 Dell Workstation T5400 192.168.0.50,3,4,40,49,1.50
CS-HOSTO01 GatewalpX4200-09 192.168.0.2

CS-HOSTO02 Dell Dimension 9200 192.168.0.5
VMHOSTCPS02 GatewalpX4200-09 192.168.1.245

Shoro wrote that all he knew about the servers “is what Brandon told me,” and that “[n]o onedeitc€daas given

access to the locked room,” but “I willetk with Emily [Lyon, Director of Caetbury Prep] to see if the school has
access.” I@d. at 1.) Although the evidence thus indicates Cadence may have been locked out of the server room at
some unspecified point, none of the foregoing shows one way or another whether Cadence had athegidegal

right to enter the server room, nor does it show whether Canterbury Prep (the businesd bgdbadence) and its
personnel had access to the server robtareover, Ed Shoro testified in his dejiteon that “[w]e were told that we

would have access to the [server] room if we needed it.” (Doc. 181-4 at 8.)
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Other than an affidavit from Brandon, Defenddrse not produced any documents to show that
Brandon has a property imést in these items.(Doc. 159 at 6.)

The CS-DBO01 server had been used to opdhnatstatic and dynamic websites used by the
Schools sold to Cadence.

CS-HOSTO01 ran the virtual ipate network (“VPN”) used by the Schools. CS-HOSTO01
and CS-HOSTO02 housed certain virtual machifdsese two servers and VMHOSTCPSO02 all ran
VMWare. A server matching the descriptiohVMHOSTCPSO02 was located in the Canterbury
Prep building during an inspéah on June 22, 2018. (Doc. 159 at 7; Doc. 159-16 at 3.)

Mike Hill, who providel services related to the compuéguipment at Canterbury Prep
beginning as early as 2013, tést that a virtual machine hosted on HOSTO1 or DB0O1 was
associated with the use of Qkbooks. (Doc. 159-19 at 7.Brandon Vore has produced no
documents showing he purchased or had rightsise the accounting femare at issue in
Counterclaim 1.

The company records at issue in thewersion counterclaim concern the following
companies: Canterbury Academy at Shawnexs€ings, Prairie Ridge, Br Cliff, Canterbury
Prep, FHD, Inc., and the Infant Academy. (Doc. &68.) The first fouentities were “Sellers”
whose records were acquired Ggdence under the APA. The fiftompany, FHD, is a holding
company that was formed solely to own the ekasf Small Beginnings, Inc., another Seller
identified in the APA. (Doc. 159-20 at 45HD had no business and merely collected dividends
from Small Beginnings, Inc. Although Brandon Vasserts a claim for losecords related to

FHD, he is not a shareholder of that compafily of the shares in FHD are owned by Sarah Vore.

7 Defendants assert that Cadence has not supported this contention with evidencadeBaoe Gas pointed to an
absence of evidence for an ed## element on which Defendants bear the burden of prgaf.Celotex Corp. v.
Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 325 (1986) (“the burden on the moving party may be discharged by ‘showinip,-pthating
out to the district court — that there is an abs@fi@vidence to support the nonmoving party’s case.”)
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(Id. at 6.) The sixth companganterbury Infant Academy, LLC, was shut down after Cadence
elected not to acarg its assets.

Infant Manager is a software application takdws caregivers ttrack infants (e.g., their
feeding, naps, medication) and allows parentswue gistructions to cagivers and monitor their
children throughout the day. Parents could review notes entered by caregivers and view video of
their children via a feed from cameras placed over cribs. (Doc2 AfQ-1.) The original version
of Infant Manager was built taun independently on dividual touch-screen Windows machines.
The Infant Manager software and data corddion the individual Windows touch screens was
mirrored onto CS-DBO01 by a data fegging SQL Server DB replication. The database replication
on CS-DBO01 was “meant as a web host with irdgdgn into other separate systems like Infant
Manager.” (d.) As such, CS-DB01 was not a part of infant Manager application, but it was
used in conjunction with Infant Magar to facilitate visibility to parents and make it easier for the
schools to maintain a roster of children.

There were two versions of Infant Manage the relevant time. One was the original
“client-server” version, which was in operationGeanterbury Prep and Briar Cliff at the time of
the acquisition. Aaron Bono of Aranya Soft@aTechnologies, whose computer company
provided services for the Schools prior to #exuisition, helped design the Infant Manager
software. In 2015-16, Aranya redesigned the oaigrersion of Infant Maager and created a new
cloud-based version. Bono testified he still has a copy of the source code used to create the original
version, but he did not recommendegeloping it given the existenoéthe cloud-based version.
The second version of Infant Mager was never run on CS-DB@lran in the cloud on servers

leased by Brandon and Sarah Vore. (Doc. 159 at 10.)
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The First Amendment to the APA gave Catkema license to use the original version of
Infant Manager in use by the scloat the time of the acquisitiomait assigned thértual server
used to operate that applicatito Cadence. (Doc. 181 at 4.)

Sarah asserts a conversiauiterclaim for “the CPAT program as well as CPAT and
Infant Manager data and research.” CPAT stands for “Canterbury Preschool Assessment Test,”
which is a web-based application used to evalaad report on a chils’cognitive and physical
development. (Doc. 159 at 11.) Aaron Bono kasrce code from theriginal developer of
CPAT, but the original version was built on ald&indows software, and Bono believed it would
be a “monstrous task” to get the old version ng eunning, and that it was a better use of time
and money to build a new version from scraf{@oc. 159-21 at 64-65.) The CPAT data and
research consists of tests administered byt&€@hury school employees on pre-school students,
prior to the acquisition, which was maintained or[@B01. No parental permission was given to
commercialize any of the data from the CPAT testing. (Doc. 159-22 at 406.) The CPAT data was
originally stored on CS-DB01 and backedarpanother drive in thserver room.

The server CS-DB01 began to fail by lgavlay 2016, causing problems with Infant
Manager. Ed Shoro, Cadence’s Directorlidbrmation Technology purchased a new server,
named CS-DBO02, to replace it. Shoro directe#edvHill of Micronet to get Infant Manager up
and running. Hill went in the server room awnok multiple drives that were originally in CS-
DBO01 and placed them in CS-DB02. Hill migratbe software and data stored on CS-DBO01 to
CS-DB02 on or around May 17, 2016. Hill's worksvyaerformed on behalf of and paid for by
Cadence. Hill informed Ed Shoro in advance tmatvould be migrating the software and data
stored on CS-DBO01 to CS-DB02. Shoro did noeobj Brandon and Sarah Vore did not authorize

Mike Hill to take any of theidata off of CS-DB01. Hill andthers acting on Cadence’s behalf
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usually gained access to the server room from wérogas at the front desk of the building, where
a key to the room was kept. (Dd59-19 at 20.) After Hill wked on CS-DBO02, he turned the
matter over to Aaron Bono, who was knowledgeadtieut Infant Manager. Bono anticipated
difficulties in getting the server-based versiomning, and he informed Cadence that it would
bear the expense of doing s&t that point, Cadence and Branddare agreed that Cadence could
use a cloud-based version of Infant ManagetHerremainder of the school year. (Doc. 159 at
13.)
Ed Shoro directed Mike Hillo remove Brandon as an authorized person with respect to
CS-HOSTO01. Shoro accessed theveeroom and removed CS-DBOHe did not return any of
the hard drives that had beemoved from CS-DBO01. He shipped CS-DBO02 to California. Shoro
testified that he opened up CS-DB&2d that it had only one drive in Shoro testified that he
“wiped” [i.e., erased the contents of] CS-OB(@h California. (Doc. 181 at 20.) Cadence
subsequently admitted, however, that theas a second hard drive in CS-DB0ZegDoc. 191
at 2.) Defendants now cite evidence that a third hard drive was removed from C$-DB02.
Brandon submitted a declaration stating, “| am the owner” of the servers named CS-DBO01,
CS-HOSTO01, CS-HOST02, and VMHOSTCPS02, &ddence did not purchase any of” those

servers. (Doc. 181-1at1.)

8 Cadence was sanctioned by Judge James for its failure to adequately inspect CS-DBO02 in the first instance, and for
its later failure to promptly disclose its discovery of a sedaard drive within CS-DB02. (Doc. 191 at 3; Doc. 215.)

As part of that sanction, Judge James ordered Cadence to pay to have CS-DB02 transpartsast€ity for an
examination. Defendants have now filed a second motion for sanctions, asserting that its expert discovered evidence
that a third hard drive was removed from CS-DB02 sometime after June 4, 2017. (Doc. 214 aintg Caatends

the second hard drive was missed during initial visualkictipns because the drive wasated in a metal cage that
obstructed visibility. (Doc. 216-4 at 3.) Cadence alsoeradg Defendants’ expert report filed October 30, 2018, was

the first document to provide a semalmber for the hard drives from CS-DB02, and that based on this new serial
number information, Cadence conducted an additional seaddbaated the third hard drive “in a stack of hard drives

in [Ed Soto’s] home office space.” (Doc. 216 at 7.)
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Brandon also declared that “[a]s Presidentofent Investments, Inc., | permitted myself
to personally use the locked room on the secarat tf the Canterbury Prep Building for storage
of my personal effects,” incluay the servers noted aboved.]

Defendants similarly declare that the Voresthaie owners of the Infant Manager software
and data, and that Sarah “is thener of CPAT and the underlyimtata and research.” (Doc. 181

at 16.)

lll. Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment (Docs. 154, 155, 177, 183).

1. Breach of contract. Defendants firgjuee FHD did not breach the Sublease because

Cadence “immediately expanded iraod occupied all of the thlease Premises’$uch that
FHD'’s rent obligation “proportionalg reduced to nothing for the erdgiterm and/or the Sublease
automatically terminated.” (Doc. 155 at 6-Dgfendants argue the Subleased Premises “was the
back half of the buildig beyond the fire doors, or rooms 11akl a supply closet,” and “[t]here

is no genuine dispute that Cade immediately expandéato and occupied” abf that area. .

at 8.)

In Kansas, the primary rule interpreting written contracts is to ascertain the intent of the
parties. Waste Connections of Kansas, Inc. v. Ritchie Corp., 296 Kan. 943, 963, 298 P.3d 250,
264 (2013) (citations omitted)f the terms of the contract are algthe intent othe parties is to
be determined from the language of the mxttwithout applying res of constructiond. If, on
the other hand, the language is ambiguous, extrinsic or parol evidence may be considered to
construe it.1d. The question of whether the languagansbiguous is one of law for the court.

Id. at 964. When resort to rulesadnstruction is requick the law favors reasonable interpretations
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and disfavors constructions tHaad to absurd result&eeid. at 963 (“The law favors reasonable
interpretations, and results which vitiate the puepaisthe terms of the agement to an absurdity
should be avoided.”) (citation omitted). The intetation of one provision should not be reached
by isolating the provision, but bynsidering the entire “four correrof the instrument. If the
language of the contract is ambiguous and thentiraé the parties cannot be ascertained from
undisputed extrinsic or parol ewidce, summary judgment is inappriape, and the parties’ intent
becomes a question of fact for a jury to determikte. at 964. See also Sorint Nextel Corp. v.
Middle Man, Inc., 822 F.3d 524, 534 (10th Cir. 2016) (iqpextation of amlgjuous contract was
for the trier of fact).

The relevant Sublease language provideg #HD will pay rent for the “Subleased
Premises,” that its rent obligation will bedteced on a proportionate basis as Cadence “expands
into the Subleased Premises,” and that the anafithe reduction will be “based on [Cadence’s]
occupancy of the Subleased Premises for the just completed month.” The court finds that these
provisions are ambiguous. First and foremdkg provisions are susceptible to multiple
constructions because the Subleased Premiassnot defined by the Sublease. It was only
described as an area of “appmsitely 11,500 square feet.” Daflants argue it referred to the
back half of the building beyondsgt of fire doors. (Doc. 155 at 8.) That may be a reasonable
understanding in view of theylaut and size of theuilding, but it is notone mandated by the
contract language. For its part, Cadence sugdbstparties understood the Subleased Premises
to be the “non-tuition generating classrooms chpalh being licensed for enrolled students.”
(Doc. 177 at5.) That may also be a reasonafdierstanding. Cadence was purchasing the assets
of an established business, and the partieswediyhave contemplatedah Cadence would start

out operating in the same manner — and using the same rooms - as FHD, and that Cadence would
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need to get licensing for additional classrooms énftiture as its enroliment increased. But again,
the language of the Sublease does not shiswihs necessarily the parties’ understanding.

The parties agree that a number of particular rooms formed part of the Subleased Premises.
But even to the extent they agree on thahfpdhe Sublease provisioase ambiguous because
Cadence’s “expand[ing] into” and €oupancy” of those areas was tkey to a rent reduction, but
it is not clear what the parties meant by thesmde“Occupancy” can refer simply to possession
of and intent to use somethingee Il Bouvier Law Dictionaryl884 (S.M. Sheppard ed. 2012)
(defining occupancy as “[t]he king possession of those thinggrporeal which are without an
owner, with an intention ofpgropriating them to one’s own a¥) But what use by Cadence
constituted occupancy? The parties obviousiganstood that Cadenceould be the only tenant
in possession of the entire burd during the Sublease Period and would have control of and
access to the entire building. Some areas ofStiideased Premises had apparently been used
previously by FHD for storage, for a lounge, for tirig, as hallways, or for other purposes. Itis
doubtful that the parties intended such uses, reiyeontinued in the same manner by Cadence,
to amount to “expand[ing] into” and “occupaficof the Subleased Premises. The term
“occupancy” could take meaning from the particufade or business — for example, in the hotel
business it refers to a percentagawdilable rooms that are renteske In re TIAT Corp., No. 16-
10764, 2017 WL 161675, *3 (Bankr. D. Kan. Jan. 13, 20C&dence suggests that in the business

of early childhood education centetg¢ccupancy” similarly refers tthe use of rooms as licensed

9 During negotiations, the parties apparently discussed how use of the space might impact licensing) bt thie i
the discussion is unclear from the recofge Doc. 177-14 at 3 (Email from Sarah Vore to Shelly King of Cadence)
(Sarah Vore asking to include Mandy [the current Director of Small Beginnings] in a gnesiéme paperwork for
Kansas relicensing application will be discussed; notingdylas “critical to continuing the enroliment growth at
Small Beginnings”; need her for “relicensing process”;wsilehave valuable input “about how to best configure the
program within the building” which will be wasted withtozonsulting her as we create the new application because
“[ilt would probably amount to an additional relicensinggass if you tried to optimize the space after having already
relicensed without her input.”)
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classrooms. That is not an unreasonable aactgin, but Cadence fails to cite evidence showing
this is such a well-established term of the tradettieparties must have used it in that sense.

If a contract is ambiguous, “thetémtion of the parties is not@gtained by resort to literal
interpretation, but by considering all language employed, the circumstances existing when the
agreement was made, the object sotghie attained, and other circumstances, if any, which tend
to clarify the real intention of the partiesfkandas, Inc. v. Klippel, 250 Kan. 458, 476, 827 P.2d
37 (1992). Prior to the APA, FHD used all thfe rooms in the Small Beginnings building
(including the Subleased Premises) for one purpoaadather, including for stage. It would be
entirely reasonable to infer that the parties mmred FHD’s usage to be a baseline, such that
Cadence’s “expand[ing]” into the Subleased Rsesy and its “occupancy” of that area, was
intended to require some usage more extensiveRHars. Under that view, the fact that Cadence
may have left assets acquired under the APfooms where FHD had stored them could not
reasonably be considered “occupancy” of thosoms. But beyond that, whether the parties
intended “occupancy” to mean @ance’s use of rooms as toitikgenerating licensed classrooms
for new enrollees (as Cadence argues), anégan Cadence’s use fother education-related
purpose (as Defendants argue)simmply not answered by the ma#ds cited. The potentially
conflicting meaning of these terms)der the circumstances of thartsaction between the parties,
renders the contract ambiguow&ee Weber v. Tillman, 259 Kan. 457, 476, 913 P.2d 84, 96 (1996)
(citation omitted) (to be ambiguous, a contracstmontain provisions danguage of doubtful or
conflicting meaning, as gleaned from a natural and reasonable interpretation of its language);
Central Nat. Res., Inc. v. Davis Operating Co., 288 Kan. 234, 245, 201 P.3d 680 (2009) (an
instrument is ambiguous when the applicatiorpeftinent rules of comsuction fails to make

certain which one of two or more meaningsasiveyed by the words goyed by the parties.)
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As the Kansas Supreme Court made cleéthd language of a contract is ambiguous and
the intent of the parties cannot be ascerthirem undisputed extrgic or parol evidence,
summary judgment is inappropriate.’'Waste Connections, 296 Kan. at 964. Under the
uncontroverted facts, FHD is not entitled torsoary judgment on Cadegls breach of contract
claim.

2. Breach of the duty of good faith. Defenttaargue FHD did ndireach a duty of good

faith under the Sublease becaGsslence immediately expandetbiand occupied the Subleased
Premises, thereby terminating tBablease. (Doc. 155 at 10The court rejects that argument
essentially for the same reasons discussed ab®te. record shows genuingsues of fact to
whether Cadence expanded into and had “occupancy” of the entire Subleased Premises.
Nevertheless the court agrees with FHD thatlence has failed to point to evidence that
FHD’s conduct breached an implied duty of goaoithfa“Every contract implies good faith and
fair dealing between the parties it, and a duty oto-operation on the paof both parties....
[T]here is an implied undertaking in every cootran the part of each party that [it] will not
intentionally and purposely do anything ... which will have the effect of destroying or injuring the
right of the other party to recaithe fruits of the contract.Trear v. Chamberlain, 308 Kan. 932,
942, 425 P.3d 297 (2018) (citations omitted.) Cad&nallegations of a breach of the duty of
good faith are premised solely on FHD'’s failure to pay the rent required by the Sublease. (Doc.
147 at 17.) The duty to pay rent, however, wascgness term of the agreement. When an express
covenant addresses the obligatiorderlying the alleged breach @fntract, there is no need to
resort to implied covenants. If Cadence’s enick persuades the jury that FHD failed to pay the
required rent, that would constitute a breach ofetkgress terms of the agreement. But that fact

alone does not also show that FHD breached tpéathcovenant of good faith and fair dealing.
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Cadence fails to identify acts beyond the allegddriato pay rent shoing that FHD otherwise
harmed or interfered with Cadence’s righitreceive the benefitsf the SubleaseSchneider v.

CitiMortgage, Inc., No. 13-4094-SAC, 2018 WL 4491244, *dt1 (D. Kan. Sept. 19, 2018)

(plaintiffs failed to state claim where they @sid an express contraat duty without alleging
any conduct that technically complied with thatydott denied them the intended fruit thereof).
Accordingly, Defendants’ motion for summanydgment will be granted with respect to the
alleged breach of the implied dut§ good faith and fair dealing.

3. Fraud or fraudulent inducement. Cadetiaems FHD and/or Bradon Vore are liable

for fraud because Brandon knowingly made fadsemisleading statem&n or omissions to
Cadence, including statementsoonissions as to the amnt of rent owed tthe master lessor and
as to FHD’s intention to pay é¢frent and other costs contempthby the SubleasgDoc. 147 at
18.) Defendants seek summary judgment by arghieg is no evidenceliat any specific person
uttered any specific statement or omitted any $igatiaterial information,” or because Cadence
fails to show justifiable reliance on aeych statements. (Doc. 155 at 12-13.)

In Kansas, a party claimingaud must prove the followingssential elements: (1) That
false or untrue representationsrevenade as a statement of exigtand material fact; (2) that the
representations were known to be false or @nby the party making them, or were recklessly
made without knowledge concernitigem; (3) that the represetiteas were intentionally made
for the purpose of inducing amar party to act upon ¢m; (4) that the other party reasonably
relied and acted upon the representations maaie(=) that the other party sustained damages by
relying upon them.See Aliresv. McGeehee, 277 Kan. 398, Syl. 13, 85.3d 1191 (2004); Pattern
Instructions of Kansas (PIK) 827.40. A similar claim lies for adudulent promise pertaining to

future events, which occurs when a person makes representations as to what he will be do in the
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future but has no real intention to do the thing represer8ezlOlsburg State Bank v. Anderson,
154 Kan. 511, 517-18, 119 P.2d 515 (1941); Pattern bi&ins of Kansas (PIK) § 127.42.

Fraud is never presumed and mussbewn by clear and convincing evidenddires v.
McGehee, 277 Kan. 398, Syl. T 1, 85 P.3d 1191 (2004)ddbae fails to cite clear and convincing
evidence of fraud. Cadence claims Brandon represented that the amount of rent due under the
Master Lease was $36,525, which “was not treeaoise ... the Master Landlord had actually
agreed to accept only $18,252.50 in rent....” (Doc. 177 at 25.) It also claims Brandon falsely
represented that FHD “would split rent 50/50 w@thdence,” which was false because Brandon
had allegedly agreed with James Vore that ‘sunys paid by FHD would breturned to FHD....”

(Id.) In support of these claims, Cadence citedance of statements by Brandon and his attorney,
both of which indicate that Branddrelieved he had prepaid FHDskare of the Sublease rent to
James Vore as part of a $1.5 million paym&a¢.Doc. 177-19 at 3 (“the 1.5 million was always
intended to be a payment of 1.1 million for the school and a $400,000 advance payment of two
years rent to satisfy the sublease”). Evenjurg were to find that such an agreement between
FHD and James Vore existed, Cadence has fadedite evidence of fraudulent intent or
knowledge on Brandon’s parRather, the cited evishce suggests nothingpre than that Brandon
attempted to discharge FHD’s obligation untlez Sublease to pay monthly rent by making a
large, lump-sum payment to James Vore. Thenmothing inherently rarious about such an
agreement. Cadence fails to explain how agyement of FHD’s Subleagent, assuming that is
what occurred, rendered Brandon’pn@sentations untrue or materal to Cadence, which would
have obtained the benefit of its bargain fromprepayment of Sublease rent by FHD. Cadence
claims, without citing evidence, that the aigament between Brandon and James was done “so

that Cadence could be made to pay ... themalgamount of the rent of $36,525.00.” (Doc. 177
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at 25.) Cadence cites no eviderto show that Brandon made tthallenged representations for
the purpose of causing Cadence to pay the full $36rb&mt. If in fact Brandon prepaid FHD’s
rent, the fact that James Vore refused toitfedD for the payment mighghow a breach of the
Master Lease on the part of Janiag,it would not show that Bnalon acted with fraudulent intent.
In sum, Cadence’s evidence on this point falls wibeghort of the cleaand convincing evidence
required to prove fraud. Defentta’ motion for summarjudgment is granted with respect to the
claim of fraud.

4. Reformation of contract and breach dbrmed contract. Cadence claims the parties

made a mutual mistake with respect to the deddilse square footagend rent-reduction formula
in the Sublease because neitparty intended Cadence’s rentit@rease until it expanded with
additional enrolled students. In the alternativargues that it made a unilateral mistake as to the
formula and square footage affétiD engaged in inequitable fsaudulent conduct. (Doc. 147 at
20.) Defendants argue that Cadence’s cldongeformation of the Sublease and for breach
thereof fail because Cadence has “no eviden@pfmutual mistake, and has no evidence of a
false statement or concealment or arstifiable reliance.” (Doc. 155 at 16.)

“Contract reformation is an equitable remedwitable to correct mutual mistakes of fact
or fraud.” Liggatt v. Employers Mut. Cas. Co., 273 Kan. 915, 926, 46 P.3d 1120 (2002).
Additionally, “Kansas cases have loadghered to the principle tha instrument may be reformed
where there is ignorance or mistake on one aitefraud or inequitable conduct on the other.”
Andresv. Claassen, 238 Kan. 732, 740, 714 P.2d 963 (1986).

The uncontroverted facts show that the Suleleess supposed to have a map attached to
it showing the Subleased Premises. Neither pathetagreement, however, attached such a map.

These circumstances could conceivably supporienabf mutual mistakeglthough the evidence
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on that point is far from clearThe court notes that contractaemation is an equitable remedy
for the court, rather than a jury, to determiree Mid-Continent Investments of Kansas, Inc. v.
Settle, 102 P.3d 1 (Table), 2004 WL 2928510, *4-5 (K$. App. Dec. 17, 2004). Accordingly,
the court will assess the claim for reformation dfiegiring the evidence at trial. On that basis the
court will deny Defendants’ motion for summary judgment concerning the reformation counts.

5. Unjust enrichment. Cadence assertsaancbf unjust enrichmerdgainst the Vores,

arguing that its alleged overpayment of rerd taxes conferred benefits upon these Defendants
“as principals and/or representative of FHD.” (D47 at 18.) Defendantsgare in part that the
Vores are not personally liable for any indebtedness of the corporate entity FHD, which was the
party to the Sublease. In response, CadenceafisartFHD is merely thalter ego of the Vores;

its debts and benefits flow directly to the VotegDoc. 177 at 23). Isupport of that assertion,
Cadence cites only a deposition response of db Fresentative who could not say where the
proceeds from the APA were depositett. &t 23-24.)

In Kansas, the doctrine of alter ego “fastens liability on the individual who uses a
corporation merely as an instrumentality ton@oct his own personal buosss, such liability
arising from fraud or injusticperpetrated not on the corporatiout on third persons dealing with
the corporation.”Kilpatrick Bros., Inc. v. Poynter, 205 Kan. 787, 797, 473 P.2d 33 (1970.) The
Kansas Supreme Court has identified a numb&aaddrs to be considered in determining whether
“the corporate veil should bgierced,” including evidencef undercapitalization of the
corporation, failure to observe corporatenfialities, nonpayment odlividends, siphoning off
funds by the stockholder, nonfunctiagiof other officers, absence adrporate records, the use
of the corporation as a facade &grerations of the stockholder, and use of the corporate entity in

promoting injustice or fraudState ex rel. Graeber v. Marion Cty. Landfill, Inc., 276 Kan. 328,
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355, 76 P.3d 1000 (2003). The court concludes tine evidence cited by Cadence — a single
instance of a representative not knowing where corporate fundslejgsited — falls far short of
the showing necessary to disregard the corpdeaite and hold individual stockholders liable.
Accordingly, Defendants’ motion for summary judgnt is granted with respect to Cadence’s
claim for unjust enrichment.

6. Civil conspiracy. Cadena@sserts a claim for civil copgacy against the Vores for

agreeing “to act in concert with each other andémes Vore to fraudulyp induce Cadence into
one or more transactions, to overcharge Caddaaanjustly enrich thembéees or to otherwise
improperly receive and retain money or benefitgl/ar to tortiously intdere with the Sublease
between FHD and Cadence.” (Doc. 147 at 19.JeDdants contend they are entitled to summary
judgment because “Cadence has no evidence ofeagt@ement or concealment or any justifiable
reliance,” because there is no tortious interee claim left in the lawsuit, and because
“overcharging” Cadence or “unjthg enrich[ing] themselves” is n@tn independent tortious cause
of action. (Doc. 155 at 19-20.)

In Kansas, “[tlhe elements of civil conspiraame (1) two or more perss; (2) an object to
be accomplished; (3) a meeting of the minds & dbject or cause of action; (4) one or more
unlawful overt acts; and (5) damagessthe proximate result there8foldt v. City of Toronto, 234
Kan. 957, 957, Syl. 15, 678 P.2d 153, 156 (1984) (c@inigens Sate Bank v. Gilmore, 226 Kan.
662, 603 P.2d 605 (1979)). Such an action must be supported by one or more overt acts which
produce an unlawful resultd., 234 Kan. at 957, Syl. 6.

Cadence has failed to cite evidence showirgdlements of conspiracy. This claim is
essentially premised on the same allegation$raafd discussed previously pertaining to the

payment arrangement between Brandon and J&mes (Doc. 177 at 27-28.) But as the court
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noted above, evidence that Brandmiieved he was prepaying thelfease rent to James would

not constitute evidence of frd, nor would it show a meetira§ the minds between Brandon and
James to affect an unlawful objective. Camertites no other evidence to support a civil
conspiracy claim. It cites no evidence at all with respect to Sarah Vore, except to suggest that she
was part of a conspiracy becatise Vores “are all family.” Ifl. at 27.) Accordingly, Defendants’

motion for summary judgment is granted wiéspect to the conspiracy claim.

IV. Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment (Docs. 156, 157, 168, 182.)

Cadence argues the uncontroverted facts show that FHD breached the Sublease by failing
to make the first monthly rental payment duneler the Sublease on March 1, 2016. Cadence notes
that under the rent-reduction cta) FHD was obligated to payomthly rent based on Cadence’s
“occupancy of the Subleased Premises for thecjusipleted month.” It argues Defendants have
asserted that Cadence expanded amd occupied the entire Subleased Premises “since March 1,
2016,” and have thereby conceded that Cadentadtifully occupy the &bleased Premises the
day before, on February 29, 2016, tmaking FHD liable for its pordin of the rent on March 1.

Cadence’s motion is premised on the followoantention by Defendants in the Pretrial
Order:

The entire Sublease which is the subject of Plaintiff's claims has been terminated

since March 1, 2016, and Cadence has no damage, because Cadence has been

occupying all of the subleased spacesiMarch 1, 2016 and Cadence materially

breached the Sublease by failing timely to provide notice of its occupancy of a
portion of all of the subleased space to FHD.

(Doc. 147 at 8.)

Cadence’s argument for partial summary juegt fails because Defendants’ contention
that Cadence fully occupied the Subleased Premises “since March 1, 2016,” does not constitute an
admission that Cadence did not fully occupy trenpses the day before. Defendants’ contention

could have been more precidy (ecognizing that Cadence’s fiddy of operations was February
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29), but a fair construction ofdéhcontention does not disclose atem to admit that Cadence did

not fully occupy the Subleases Premises on Febr2@&ryor does it indicate an intent to forego
any such contention. Cadence’s characterization ohths “binding admission” that “Cadence
did not occupy at least 10,000 squbeet of the Subleased Premisesil March 1, 2016” places
more weight on the contention than it will bear. Accordingly, Cadence’s motion for summary
judgment is denied.

V. Plaintiff's Motion for Summary J udgment on Counterclaims (Doc. 158, 159, 181,
186.)

Brandon Vore asserts a counterclaim ¢onversion, alleging that Cadence removed,
converted, and destroyed accounting recordsjnbss records, accounting software, Infant
Manager software, computer equipment, hardwarel servers from the server room of the
Canterbury Prep building. Sarahréasserts a similar counteriatefor conversion of the CPAT
program and CPAT and Infant Manager data @sgarch. Brandon also asserts a counterclaim
alleging that Cadence’s entry into the server reomstituted trespass. (Doc. 147 at 23-24.)

Conversion. Cadence first argues the cosive claims fail because the Vores cannot
establish a right of title tor possession of the disputecoperty. Cadence argues the APA
conveyed to Cadence all tangible and intangible assets used in, generated by, or associated with
the businesses acquired, and that this includegrtbperty in dispute excejor the CPAT program
and the cloud-based version of Infant Manageoc([159 at 15.) As to the latter two programs,
Cadence argues the Vores hanestanding to claim conversiai these materials because the
assets belonged to CIP and/orffatg, not to the Vores individually.ld. at 17.) Finally, it
contends the conversion claims fail becausé&/tires cannot show that Cadence took the property

with the intent to use atispose of it.
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Conversion is “the unauthorizeassumption or exercise of the right of ownership over
goods or personal chattels belorggto another to the exclusiof the other’s rights.”’Armstrong
v. Bromley Quarry & Asphalt, Inc., 305 Kan. 16, 22, 378 P.3d 1090 (2016 (citation omitted.) To
maintain a claim, the plaintiff must have aneiest in the thing comvted. 18 Am. Jur.2d,
Conversion 8 68 (West 2004). “It is necessary thatplaintiff be the owner of the property
claimed to be converted or that he or she h@bssession or entitled fmssession at the time of
the alleged conversion.Id. See also Rezac Livestock Comm. Co., Inc. v. Pinnacle Bank, 255 F.
Supp. 3d 1150, 1172 (D. Kan. 2017) (citi@gernsey v. Fulmer, 66 Kan. 767, 71 P. 578, 578
(1903) (“[O]n an action for convam, the petition must allegedhat the time of the conversion
the plaintiff was either in possession, or hadyhtrio the possession, of the property converted.”))

In their response, Defendants first argue thotion as to conveo should be denied
because “Brandon and Sarah Vore owned the property at issue” and because Cadence “fails to
produce affirmative evidence negating Brandon @acdhh Vore’s ownership.” (Doc. 181 at 23.)
The evidence of ownership citéy Defendants, however, is enlyr&onclusory. For example,
Brandon Vore has submitted a declaration statinglgirfipam the owner” of the property. Such
declarations are insufficient to prove owst@p under the facts of this case.

The uncontroverted facts shdthat Brandon, by executing t#dPA, represented that the
Sellers were conveying title to Gence of essentially all of éhSellers’ business assets. The
Sellers agreed (with certain exceptions) at dgs$hey would “sell, transfer, assign and deliver ...
the following assets owned by the Sellers...: algtale and intangible assets used in, generated
by or associated with the Business,” including ¢am other things) compeits, contract rights,
licenses, records, computer software, softweenses, and proprietary information “situated

and/or utilized by the Business or the Schaqisrated by Sellers....” The uncontroverted facts
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show that the property identitidy Defendants (leaving aside tbe moment the CPAT materials
and any cloud-based Infant Manager materials) sitaated in, used inna associated with the
Sellers’ businesses. The only fair reading of the APA is that it represented that the assets located
in and used in the Sellers’ businesses were, except for items specifically exempted, being
transferred to Cadence. Deflants now claim personal ownleis of some of that property,
backed only by a conclusory affidavit that does exjilain how and witlwhat funds the assets
were acquired, whether the property was expepsesonally or to a business entity, how the
assets came to be located and used in the Sellers’ businesses, and what evidence shows the items
remained individual property despite their use i 8ellers’ business. In such circumstances, no
inference of personal ownership can arise froiere possession of the property, because the
property was located in and used by the businedsesrttiat were selling their assets to Cadence,
and Brandon Vore was an officer of those entiti€f. 18 Am. Jur.2d, Conversion 8 95 (“To
recover in a conversion action, andrily the plaintiff must showeither title or the right of
possession, since title is generally presumetbitow possession.”) Defendants cite no other
evidence to establishdhthis property was personally ned as opposed to being owned by the
business entities that sold their assets to Cadence in the APA. In sum, Defendants have failed to
cite evidence showing a lawfught of ownership or possessiortioé property sufficient to sustain
a claim for conversion.

The court reaches a similar conclusion widispect to Sarah Vore’s counterclaim for
conversion of the CPAT program and Infant Mgeradata and research. Defendants cite only

conclusory statements that Sana@ersonally owned this propefy. But in the APA, signed by

10 pefendants cite two supplemental responses to interrogatories, both of which refer generigadipecified
“documents” and “testimony” of Mike Hill and Aaron Bono. (Doc. 181-2 at 2, 8.) They also cite a portion of Bono's
deposition testimony in which he quotes Brandon Vorsaging he plans to rewrite Infant Manager, sell it, and
maintain it after the APA, although he says nothing abwutership of the software. (Doc. 181-3 at 4.) Defendants
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Brandon, it was represented that the CPAT softaard related materials) and the Infant Manager
software were assets owned $taffing and CIP, two entities that were “owned by the same
principals that own the Sellers.” In the facetlodit representation, a conclusory assertion that
Sarah personally owned this property is not figent basis for a jury to reasonably find that
Sarah Vore, and not Staffing or CIP, owned the property.

Defendants argue that Cadence has faitedproduce affirmative evidence negating
Brandon Vore or Sarah Vore’s ownership.” (Db81 at 23.) But as noted previously, the movant
satisfies its burden at the summaudgment stage by pointing &am absence of evidence to support
an element on which the non-moving party widlar the burden of proof at triaSee Celotex
Corp., 477 U.S. at 325. Defendants have the burdémaato establish their personal ownership
or right to possession of the pesty allegedly converted. Theyvefailed to cite evidence from
which a jury could reasonably conclude thagythand not their business entities, owned the
disputed property. Cadence is accordingly entitled to summary judgment on Brandon and Sarah
Vore’s counterclaims for conversion.

Trespass. Brandon Vore asserts a counterdtaitrespass, alleging that Cadence “entered
onto the premises of Brandon Vore [the serventat the Canterbury Prep building] without any
right, lawful authority, or any>gress or implied invitation ofdense.” (Doc. 147 at 24.) In

support of the allegation of possession, Voresdiis declaration testimony that, “[a]s President

also cite Sarah Vore’'s testimony that she “absolutely”qmeridy owns the Infant Manager and CPAT software. Not
only is that testimony conclusory, but Defendants do not mention portions of Sarah’s testimonyninditatk of
knowledge about ownership. Seg e.g., Doc. 181-6 at 8) (these “woulde Brandon questions” because “[h]e
understands more about the structure between software and CIP and us as individuals thafdeds)) id. at 9
(“Do I own the software personally, or does a company thwrsoftware but then license my intellectual property to
use that software? | would probably have to consult with my attorney to figure out where that nuancehso [sic] t
could answer correctly. | don’t know.”)
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of Cogent Investments, Inc., [he] permittednkelf to personally use the locked room ... for
storage of his personal effects,” including the servers in dispute.. IBbat 18.)

Cadence contends that Brandonr&/did not own or have a suj right to the premises
at issue and that, in any eve@adence had a license or consergriter the server room. (Doc.
159 at 20.) In response, Defendants argueBtatdon “possessed the space in the locked room
on the second floor under claims and color oéfithnd that Cadenceil@to produce evidence
negating that fact(Doc. 181 at 28.)

A trespass occurs when a person enters or remains on premises in the possession of another
without the possessor's express or implied consany right, or lawfulauthority. Pattern
Instructions of Kasas (PIK) 8§ 126.2Frazeev. . Louis-San Francisco Ry. Co., 219 Kan. 661,
663-64, 549 P.2d 561 (1976). The uncontroverted &g that Cogent, Inc., an entity legally
separate from Brandon, owned then@abury Prep premises where the server room was located.
It is also uncontroverted that Cogent grantéshae to Cadence pertaigito the Canterbury Prep
building and did not grant a leaskeany other person. Finally, &rdon asserts that, as President
of Cogent, he granted himself permission to spemsonal items in the server room. Even viewed
in a light most favorable to Defendants, howetlegse facts fail to show that Brandon had a right
to exclusive possession of, and the right to exchiders from, the server room. Defendants have
failed to cite any competent evidence — suchhas written lease agreement — to show that
Cadence’s leasehold interestl giot include the server roodefendants merely cite Brandon’s
affidavit that he granted himsgdermission to store some personal items in the room. That is not
a possessory interest of the rodself and does not support a aafor trespass against Cadence
for entering the roontee Dan B. Dobbs, Paul T. Hayden aniieB M. Bublick, The Law of Torts

§ 52 (2d ed.) (“[T]he owner of an easement, uae no possessory inter@sthe land but only a
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right to its use, has no claim foespass interferingiith possession.”)Cf. Restatement(Second)

of the Law of Torts, § 157, conent a (“By ‘occupancy’ is measuch acts dongpon the land as
manifest a claim of exclusive control of the laadd indicate to the public that he who has done
them has appropriated it.”) Because Defersldrdave failed to cite evidence that Brandon
possessed the server room, his claim for trespassafadsmatter of lawln view of that finding,

the court need not address whether Cadence hadilage to enter the server room to obtain or
service items acquired in the APAf. Restatement(Second) of the Law of Torts, § 181 (except

as otherwise agreed, one tdvam a possessor of land has sfemred a thing on the land is
privileged, within a reasonable time and manner, to be on the land to take possession of the thing
and remove it.) Cadence’s motion for summary judgment is accordingly granted with respect to

the counterclaim for trespass.

VI. Defendants’ Motion for Order Regarding Privilege (Docs. 175, 185, 188);
Plaintiff's Motion to Strike (Docs. 176, 184, 189.)

The court will address these matters togetisethey are related. In Doc. 175, Defendants
seek an order declaring that a document presly produced by Cadenég not protected by
attorney-client or workproduct privilege. The document is identified as CADENCE0000201, and
has been reviewed in camera bg ttourt. In Doc. 176, Cadencewes to strike the affidavit of
a former employee, Amanda Baumgartner, wiiels submitted by Defendants in support of their
motion for summary judgment.Sde Doc. 155-6.) Cadence argues thffidavit “incorporates or
otherwise refers to attorney-client privilegeommunications and worgroduct prepared in

anticipation of litigation.” (Doc. 176 at 1.) Cadence compkthat the affiavit refers to
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discussions with Cadence execasv‘concerning the uses ofetlspace at the Small Beginnings
locations prior to February 13, 2017;” describegwsiand observations blgdse executives; refers
to a communication whereby “a Cadence execusked for a map of the facility showing the
parts Cadence was using;” discusses the prepaiaf a map by Ms. Baugartner showing all of
the building and the related uses by Cademefers to the submission of an email by Ms.
Baumgartner to Cadence with a descriptiof the uses by Cadence; and “additional
communications from counsel for Cadenoaaerning the litigatiomafter March 2018....”1@. at
5.) Cadence says it “has gathered and will submit for in camera review several communications
that clearly show that the discussions at isgaee privileged, and thafls. Baumgartner herself
had direct contact with counselalt the very issues that form the subject of her affidavid) (
The court has no record of receiving such documents. Moreover, the court finds this motion is
largely misguided, as the bulk tie affidavit merely recount®ctual matterobserved by the
witness while she was employed at Small Begigsi— specifically, how Cadence used the rooms
in the building. No privilege prohibits the witness from recounttigge matters in an affidavit.
The attorney-client privilege provides: (Where legal advice of any kind is sought (2)
from a professional legal advisor in his or heramty as such, (3) the communications relating to
that purpose, (4) made in confidence (5) by thentli®) are at the client’s instance permanently
protected (7) from disclosure llye client or by the legal advisq8) except if the protection is
waived. Rittgersv. Hale, No. 17-4019-SAC-KGG, 2018 WB38218, at *3—4 (D. Kan. Jan. 9,
2018) (citingln re Syngenta Ag Mir 162 Corn Litigation, No. 14-2591-JWL, 2017 WL 386835, at
*4 (D. Kan. Jan. 27, 2017)). As for the work-protidoctrine, it protect&documents and tangible
things that are prepared in ampation of litigation or for trinby or for another party or its

representative.” Fed. R. Civ. B6(b)(3)(A). The doctrine “shelterthe mental processes of the
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attorney, providing a privileged area within whioé can analyze and prepare his client’s case.”
Rittgers, 2018 WL 338218, at *4 {imations omitted.)

The court will start with the obvious: the atiey-client privilege prtects disclosure of
substantive communications betwestorney and client; it does not protect against disclosure of
the underlying facts with the communication. Rittgers, 2018 WL 338218, at *4 (citation
omitted.) The same is truerfilhe work product privileged. Thus thefactsgathered in Cadence’s
investigation are not protected from disclosure even if the investigation occurred at the direction
of counsel and in anticipation of litigationld. It is obvious that the vast majority of Ms.
Baumgartner’s affidavit sets iln facts she allegedly observaud her employment at Small
Beginnings, and no privilege prevents her froootnting such observationParagraphs 1-7, and
9-23 are nothing more than recitations of Ms. Bgartner’'s personal observations, and are thus
proper. Paragraph 8 includes fhet that Baumgartner had dissions with Cadence executives
about the uses of the space in the buildingis Plaragraph includes the substance of only one
guestion - “Where’s the other spacellegedly asked by “most” die executives. Cadence has
failed to show that any of the foregointatters are protectday any privilege.

Paragraphs 24-29 of the affidavit descriteev Ms. Baumgartner came to draw a map,
write a narrative description, and sent an etealadence executives showing Cadence’s use of
the Small Beginnings building. As to these allegations, Cadence has averred that the request for
such materials was prompted by Cadence’s ceitsidinsel and was for the purpose of preparing
for imminent litigation. (Doc. 176 at 7)o date Cadence has made no such shottifidne court
will therefore deny the motion toréte these matters, but will do so without prejudice to Cadence

reasserting the issue before trial upon a propmwrsity. For the same reasons, Defendants’ motion

1 The court finds no record of having receivituments from Cadence for in camera review.
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to declare these matters to be noivif@ged will be grantd at this time. lbears pointing out that
even if the court were to strikany reference to the map or tthescriptions previously prepared
by Ms. Baumgartner for the benefit of Cadends, Baumgartner would not be precluded from
testifying at trial about her pemsal observations of the uses of the building, nor would she be
precluded from creating another nmagsed on her knowledge of events.

Finally, paragraphs 30-34 of Ms. Baumgartnaxfidavit are simply irrelevant to the
motion for summary judgment. Tleurt will therefore deny the rtion to strike these matters as
moot.

In sum, Plaintiff's motion to strike (Dod 76) is denied; Defendts’ motion for order
regarding privilege (Doc. 175) is granted to thdent indicated above. The court’s ruling is
without prejudice to the refilingf a motion to strike supportday materials demonstrating the
elements of attorney-clieotr work-product privilege.

VII. Plaintiff's Motion to Exclude Expert Testimony (Docs. 194, 207, 210.)

Cadence moves to exclude a report andntesty of Aaron Bono, Diendants’ computer
expert. It argues that Bono’s opns include matters outside Ileispertise or that are not shown
to be the result of any reliable method. (Doc? 89 1.) It also moves to exclude certain non-
retained expert testimony of Brandon and Bavare, arguing Defenads failed to properly
disclose any such testimony. In responsdebdants argue the testimony is proper under Rule
702 and that it will “assist the jury in understanding [the] nature of the computers/servers,
electronic data, programs, bussseecords and intellectual progewthich are the subject matter
of the counterclaims, why it cannot be replaced, and the value of that prog®c. 207 at 2.)

As an initial matter, the court notes thatgnant of summary judgment in favor of Cadence

on the counterclaims may limit thelevance of the proposed expedtimony. Because the parties
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have not had a chance to address that idgsmeever, the court will only address the issues
presented in the briefs and will resolve any additional questions of relevance in rulings in limine
or at trial.

Federal Rule of Evidence 702, which coldrihe admission of expert withess testimony,
provides:

A witness who is qualified as an expbyt knowledge, skill, experience, training,
or education may testify in the foraf an opinion or otherwise if:

(a) the expert's scientific, technical, ather specialized kndedge will help the
trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue;

(b) the testimony is based enfficient facts or data;
(c) the testimony is the product ofiedle principles and methods; and

(d) the expert has reliably applied thénpiples and methods to the facts of the
case.

Fed. R. Evid. 702. As the Tenth Circuit recently noted:

In evaluating the admissibility of expeestimony, “the district court must
satisfy itself that the proposed expestimony is both reliable and relevant, in that
it will assist the trier ofact, before permitting a jury to assess such testimony.”
United Statesv. Nacchio, 555 F.3d 1234, 1241 (10th Ca009) (en banc) (quotation
marks omitted). This requires a two-step process. First, the district court must
“determine whether the expert is qualified ‘by knowledge, skill, experience,
training, or educationto render an opinion.td. (quoting Fed. R. Evid. 702).
Second, if the expert is sufficiently quad, the district court “must determine
whether the expert's opinion is relialblg assessing the underlying reasoning and
methodology.1d. Importantly, the couit not required “to admit opinion evidence
that is connected to esting data only by thgse dixit of the expert. A court may
conclude that there is simply too greataaralytical gap between the data and the
opinion proffered.” [citation omitted]

Schulenberg v. BNSF Ry. Co., 911 F.3d 1276, 1282—83 (10th Cir. 2018).
Cadence first seeks to exclude opiniomerce by Aaron Bono pertaining to who owned
the server or component parts following the ARA well as the extent of Cadence’s authority to

remove or replace CS-DBO01. (Doc. 194 at 4. €hurt agrees with Cadence that any opinions
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by Bono pertaining to who owned or had authoritatoess or remove vatis computer parts is
not a matter within his expertise or that woulchledpful to the jury. This would include opinions
about Cadence “commandeer[ing]” accounts, tleey limited license at access Cadence held,”
that Cadence “was never authorized to remdter, anodify or destroy CS-DBO01,” and drives and
data “were hijacked” by CadencéDoc. 207 at 4.) The court res Defendants’ argument that
such opinions are merely based on Bono’s experieneere properly formd from hearsay of a
type reasonably relied on by exmein the field. (Doc. 207 at 4Bono is a competr expert; he
has no demonstrated expertise wehlpect to property rights. Higinions in that regard will be
excluded.

Cadence’s second objection concerns Bonoisiap as to the nate of the connection
between CD-DBO01 and the Infant Manager sofeawaBono’s opinions on ik computer-related
issue is clearly a matter within hegpertise. In light of the coustdismissal of the counterclaims,
however, Defendants will have to demonstrateréievance of the opinion as to the remaining
claims in order to use the opinion at trial. r Bze moment, the motion &xclude the opinion is
denied. The same is true withspect to Bono’s opinions aswhat items were taken from the
server room and the value of those itemsoq[194 at 4.) Assumingetremoval of computer-
related items from the server room is relevemtthe remaining claims, Bono’s expertise in
identifying those items and in interpreting theefusic evidence of their removal may assist the
jury. Similarly, his knowledge adnd research concerning the \ea@f such items properly relies
upon his expertise and knowledge of computerad=svi Assuming such testimony is relevant,
Cadence can test the reliability of it with cross-examination, batatgon fails to show that such
opinions must be excluded at this poiSee Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharm., Inc., 509 U.S. 579,

596 (1993) (“[v]igorous cross-examination, preséion of contrary evidence, and careful
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instruction on the burden of proof are the traditional and appropriate means of attacking shaky but
admissible evidence.”)

Cadence also seeks to exclaay expert opinions from Bndon and Sarah Vore because,
it argues, Defendants did not prolyedisclose any such testimonyDoc. 194 at 9.) Defendants
respond by arguing that Cadence waived any sbgttion and, in any event, the subject matter
of Defendants’ testimony was properly disclosd@®oc. 207 at 9.) The court is hampered in
addressing the issue because neisige has identified any partieuldisputed opinion. Absent a
concrete objection to some specific opinion, the court is unable to determine its admissibility.
Accordingly, Plaintiff's motion to excludexpert opinions by Brandon and Sarah Vore will be
denied without prejudice.

VIIl. Defendants’ Motion to Exclude Non-Retained Expert Testimony (Docs. 196,
208, 211.)

Defendants seek to exclude opinions friour Cadence corpomtofficers (President
David Goldberg, Vice President Jomar Jenkioener CEO Doug MacKay, and Vice President
Sharon Moran) on the grounds that their opiniargsnot proper subjectd expert testimony and
will not assist the juyr. (Doc. 196 at 1.)

Defendants first argue that any opinions Bsthwitnesses abouetindustry meaning of
the terms “occupy” or “expand” are inadmissibbecause such opinions amount to legal
conclusions, they would usurp the function of the jury, and they would interfere with the court’s
duty to instruct upon the lawld; at 4.) The court concludestmotion to exclude such opinions
should be denied. As noted previously, if thenteof a contract are dnmguous, extrinsic or parol
evidence may be consickd to construe itNVaste Connections of Kansas, Inc., 296 Kan. at 963.

The court has already determined that thesagaendered the Sublease ambiguous. In such
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circumstances, where a term has a particular ingan a trade or busiiss that varies from its
ordinary meaning, “evidence of the meaning givenssge of the trade or business is admissible.”

See Seymour v. Armstrong, 62 Kan. 720, 64 P. 612, 613 (190H8ee also Central Nat. Res,, Inc.

v. Davis Operating Co., 288 Kan. 234, 246, 201 P.3d 680 (2009C]ertain terms may have a
commonly understood meaning within a trade or industry, so that a commercial contract between
parties that are regularly engaged in that tradiedustry would be construed in the context of that
common usage.”) Cadence represents that such opinions will be presented based upon its
witnesses’ years of experiencetlve child education businesSuch testimony may be helpful to

the jury and may be sufficientlylrable for its consideration. Ahis stage, Defendants have not
shown that such opinigrshould be excluded.

Defendants next challengeyaopinion by Cadence witnesses that FHD “owes Cadence...
unpaid amounts calculated from March 1, 2016ulgh the present.” (Doc. 196 at 4.) Defendants
argue any opinion that FHD “owes” Cadenceusimproper comment upon the law. The court
will deny the motion to exclude this testimony. Qackerepresents that these witnesses will apply
the Sublease’s rent and rent-reduction formitasalculate how much rent FHD would owe
assuming the jury finds in favor of Cadenc@oc. 208 at 6-7.) Wh this understanding, the
testimony appears to besentially a mathematicahlculation rather thaan improper comment
on the law. Such testimony may prove useful ®jtiny given the number of variables that could
affect the calculation of rent. Defendants may of course assert a contemporaneous objection to
any improper comment upon the law, but the @sses are not precluded from calculating the
amounts FHD would owe if the jury finds favor of Cadence.

Defendants also seek to exclude anynmm testimony from these witnesses “about

unspecified ‘purposes of, motivations fomdaimplementation of asset purchase or lease
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agreements on the part of buyers or lessotedarindustry.” (Doc. 196 at 5.) Defendants argue
such opinions are “totally irrelevant to the Sublease.ld)).( In response, Cadence asserts that
such testimony “will provide helpful context for the jury in determining the nature and extent of
obligations under the Sublease....” (Doc. 208 at Bhe court will deny the motion to exclude
this testimony at this time. Bendants have identified no specifipinions in dispute, and the
court cannot assess the admisgipibf an opinion inthe abstract. Somiestimony about the
parties’ purposes and discussions leading & ARA will likely be required for the jury to
understand the context of the Sublease. Beybat general opinions about asset purchase
agreements are not likely to have much relegan the instant case unless they involve matters
discussed in negotiations betweabe parties. The court willdaress any such opinions when a
contemporaneous objectigraised at trial.

IX. Defendants’ Second Motion for Sanctions (Docs. 214, 216, 218.)

Defendants note that Cadence was previasefhetioned by the court for failing to timely
disclose its discovery of a second hard diivé€€S-DB02, a server Cadence removed from the
server room at Canterbury Prep. (Docs. AK.) Defendants now seek additional sanctions
based on recently discovered evidence thatéhlard drive was within CS-DB02 on June 4, 2017
— months after a demand and preservation letts sent to Cadence - and was subsequently
removed by Cadence. Defendants contend farevidence also shows Cadence “browsed and
manipulated” the second hard d¥j\that Ed Shoro’s sémony about erasintie single drive in
CS-DB02 was knowingly false, and that Cadenmerposefully concealedhe existence of the
two additional drives and the information therein. (Doc. 214 at 2, 6.) Although Cadence has
proposed a forensic analysis of the third dribefendants argue they have been irreparably

prejudiced. They contend apmopriate sanction is a defajidgment against Cadence on the
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conversion counterclaims and an award of damagel costs. Alternatively, Defendants request
a spoliation instruction, exclusion of Ed Shoro and Ed Soto’s testimony, and an award of expenses.
(Doc. 214 at 14.)

Cadence contends it had difficulty idéying server components because the
counterclaims were not asserted until monthker éiie equipment was r@wved, and because it had
to rely on Defendants to identify the equipmelitcontends it was able to find and identify this
third hard drive only after Defendts’ expert identified the seriaumber of the drive. (Doc. 216
at 6-7.) Cadence says that after it learned the serial numhmratiéd the third hard drive in a
stack of other hard drives at Ed Soto’s home offickd. dt 7.) It sayst promptly notified
Defendants and offered to pay fo forensic examination. Caume argues Defendants have not
shown that any electronic infortian had been lost and that Defentiahave not been prejudiced.

It also argues that it did nottantionally conceal information aridat no finding of bad faith is
warranted. (Doc. 216 at 10-11.) Cadence argusamation is appropriate uiew of Defendants’
refusal to accept offers to examine the hard dri@adence also asserts that it is entitled to fees
because Defendants “made no actual effort” é@ihand confer prior to filing the motion.

The court has the authority to impose sanctibegectronically stored information (ESI)
that should have been preserved is lost becapaéafailed to take reasonable steps to preserve
it. Fed. R. Civ. P. 37(e). At this point, it memature to conclude that any ESI has been
irretrievably been lost. The first logical stepasascertain what information can be gathered from
drives belatedly produced by Cadence. Cadence contends that on December 10, 2018, it offered
to: a) image the third drive and generate alfdéng; b) pay for Defend#s’ expert’s travel
expenses to observe the imaging; c) permit gpdation of the drive by Dendants’ expert either

in California or Kansas City; and d) produce &ato for a deposition in Kansas City concerning
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the newly found drive. (Doc. 216 at 8.) Baseddaence’s second significant failure to produce
ESI, the court could direct Cadence to compith the foregoing offer, should Defendants elect
to pursue it? The court will address this issues witie parties at the March 11 in limine
conference, and will defer a final ruling on the motion for sanctions.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED this 25th day of Februg 2019, that Defendants’
Motion for Summary JudgmeriDoc. 154) is GRANTED IN PRT and DENIED IN PART;
Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Jigment on Liability as to @int One (Doc. 156) is DENIED;
Plaintiffs Motion for Summary Judgmenbn Counterclaims (Doc158) is GRANTED;
Defendants’ Motion for Order Regarding Claim of Privilege (o&%) is GRANTED; Plaintiff’s
Motion to Strike (Doc. 176) is DENIED; Pldiff's Motion to Exclude Expert Testimony (Doc.
194) is GRANTED IN PART and DENIED IN FRT; Defendants’ Motion to Exclude Expert
Testimony (Doc. 196) is DENIED; and Defendargcond Motion for Setions (Doc. 214) is
TAKEN UNDER ADVISEMENT.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

sfohnW. Broomes

JOHNW. BROOMES
WNITED STATESDISTRICT JUDGE

2 The court recognizes that the grant of summary judgoretiie counterclaims may alter the parties’ consideration
of this matter. The court also recopgs that the trial is rapidly approachinGadence offered an examination of the
drive nearly two months ago, however, which should lperenitted the parties and theucbto address the issue in
the instant motion with all of the relevant facts.
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